1969

Roberts Investment Company, a Utah Corporation
v. Gibbons and Reed Concrete Products Company,
a Corporation and Gibb0Ns and Reed Concrete
Products Company, a Corporation v. Frank W.
Roberts and W. Calvin Roberts dba Roberts
Investment C0Mpany, et al. : Appellant's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF CASE

This is a consolidation of two separate actions, one brought by respondent for slander of title, the other by appellant for foreclosure of a mechanic's lien and a money judgment for failure to obtain the bond required by 14-2-1 Utah Code Annotated 1953.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The trial court, after a trial without a jury, dismissed the claims of all parties.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks reversal of the judgment and remand with directions to enter judgment against respondents for \$1,561.68, interest, and costs, including an attorney's fee of \$750.00.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The respondents, Frank W. Roberts and W. Calvin Roberts, co-partners doing business as Roberts Investments (hereinafter called "Roberts") owned real property at 3838 South Main Street, Salt Lake City, upon which they undertook to construct a building (R. 16), anticipating construction costs of approximately \$200,000.00 (R. 48).

In carrying out the project Roberts employed several contractors to do different portions of the work (R. 48). Among the contractors was American Construction Company, which was to be responsible for erection of the concrete walls for the building. This portion of the contract itself involved more than \$500.00 of construction costs, but Roberts did not require American Construction to furnish any performance and payment bond (R. 16).

Between February 19, 1964, and April 15, 1964, American Construction Company ordered and received concrete from appellant for use in construction of the Roberts building, but on about the later date, the contractor ran into construction problems, and dropped two walls, causing damage. Roberts stopped American Construction from further performance and took over that portion of the work itself (R. 52-53). Between about May 7, 1964, and August 20, 1964, Roberts purchased concrete from appellant of an agreed and reasonable value of \$7,505.64. It was used in construction of the building.

On August 27, 1964, Frank W. Roberts went to appellant's office for the purpose of paying for the concrete it had purchased. Roberts then owed appellant \$7,505.64 for concrete purchased by Roberts for construction of the building. The amount was liquidated and undisputed. No portion of it arose out of the sale of concrete to American Construction Company.

American Construction Company, however, was

then indebted to appellant in the amount of \$1,561.68 for concrete furnished on the project before American's work was taken over by Roberts. The amount owed by American Construction Company was liquidated, was maintained as a separate account, and was recorded on a different ledger card than the Roberts account.

On the day Frank W. Roberts was in appellant's office to pay the Roberts indebtedness both appellant's general manager and its office manager inquired about the debt of American Construction Company.

There is not much dispute about Frank W. Roberts' reaction to inquiries concerning the American Construction Company account. L. K. Bradley, appellant's general manager, testified that Mr. Roberts said he "wasn't obligated" to pay it (R. 36). Jan Zwets, appellant's office manager, testified that Mr. Roberts said it "was our problem to straighten out with American Construction" (R. 44). Frank Roberts himself testified that he told Zwets, "I am not going to pay anything that American Construction owes," and that Zwets could "either sign the lien waiver and I will pay this [the Roberts debt], or forget it" (R. 55). The testimony of Zwets was that "I told him I would sign a lien release for the amount owed Gibbons and Reed by Roberts Investment" (R. 42). Zwets then signed a receipt for \$7,505.64 (Exhibit D-1) which contained lien release provisions aimed primarily at protection of the construction lender, Valley State Bank.

Frank W. Roberts admitted that he paid appellant

the exact amount owed for concrete purchased by Roberts. Although there had been "a couple of discrepancies" these had been discussed and Roberts was satisfied that the bill rendered was a proper bill. He also knew that the claim for \$7,505.64 did not include any amounts of concrete purchased by American Construction Company while it was on the job. Nevertheless, he told Jan Zwets that unless he signed the receipt he would not be paid the amount admittedly owed by Roberts (R. 61).

The document signed by Jan Zwets on August 27, 1964 (Exhibit D-1) is in the form of a receipt. Untitled, it reads as follows:

"Salt Lake City, Utah 8/27 1964

Received of Roberts Investments the sum of Seven Thousand & Five Hundred & Five—& 64/100 DOLLARS (\$7,505.64) in (*full*) payment for labor and/or material furnished by the undersigned for the job at 3838 South Main Street, Salt Lake City, Utah.

It is understood that this receipt is to be presented to VALLEY STATE BANK or assigns as evidence of payment of the amount thereby receipted for to induce said VALLEY STATE BANK or assigns to advance to the owner of the property above mentioned money to be secured by mortgage on said property, and, in consideration thereof, it is agreed by the undersigned with the VALLEY STATE BANK or assigns that any lien the undersigned has or may have against real estate is and shall be inferior, subordinate and subsequent to said

mortgage; and further, and disputes over amounts due and/or material delivered heretofore between claimant and owner are waived and settled and the undersigned releases the owners from all and any claims the undersigned may have against owner or materials delivered or labor performed. For materials delivered to date. 8/20/64.

**GIBBONS AND REED CONCRETE
PRODUCTS COMPANY**

Jan Zwets, Office Manager

This Payment Covers Concrete Mat."

A few days thereafter, on September 2, 1964, appellant filed a mechanic's lien claim against the property (R. 21) for the amount owed by American Construction, \$1,561.68. The claim was inaccurate in that it showed the first material to have been furnished on May 7, 1964, "to" Roberts Investments. Nothing was said about material furnished between February 19, 1964, and April 15, 1964, at the request of American Construction Company. On or about February 22, 1965, an amendment of claim of mechanic's lien was filed with the County Recorder in which the error was corrected (R. 22-23)¹.

During the trial it was stipulated that if appellant was entitled to an attorney's fee, such fee should be fixed in the amount of \$750.00 (R. 47).

1. The amended lien was filed to notify third persons of the exact basis for appellant's claim of lien. Appellant does not contend that the amendment could validate the original lien if it was not valid when filed.

On March 13, 1968, the court filed a Memorandum Decision (R. 28-29) in which it found, among other things, that the release "was a release of all claims and, therefore * * * that a judgment of no cause of action should be rendered in favor of the [respondent] on [appellant's] claim." This appeal involves only Gibbons and Reed Concrete Products Company and Roberts Investments. By stipulation of the parties the lien was released and the sum of \$2,400.00 was placed on deposit to await further order of the court. Any judgment entered, to the extent that the fund is available, will be paid out of the fund or a supersedas bond given in lieu of it. No appeal has been taken by any party other than Gibbons and Reed Concrete Products Company.

ARGUMENT

I

THERE WAS NO CONSIDERATION FOR A RELEASE BY APPELLANT OF ANY CLAIM OTHER THAN THAT ARISING FROM THE ROBERTS INVESTMENTS ACCOUNT.

The trial court without explanation or apparent reason refused to apply contract principles which have been recognized by the Anglo Saxon courts for centuries and by this court since its inception. Courts, text-writers, legal encyclopedias and college professors agree that promises and releases, to be enforceable, must be

supported by sufficient consideration². Restatement of Contracts, §19; 1 Corbin on Contract, §109; 17 C.J.S., Contracts, §§71, 402; 17 Am. Jur.2d, Contracts, §86; 76 C.J.S., Release, §10; 45 Am. Jur., Release, §11.

Few material facts are in dispute. It is established by the pre-trial order and trial testimony that on August 27, 1964, Roberts owed appellant \$7,505.64 for concrete used by Roberts in construction of its building. The amount of the debt was liquidated, agreed to, undisputed, and not subject to any reasonable dispute. Yet the trial court held that payment of the debt by Roberts operated to discharge that company from an entirely separate liability arising out of appellant's sales to American Construction Company.

The ruling of necessity rejects the principle that performance of a pre-existing legal duty does not constitute consideration for a promise or release.

In *Tanner v. Utah Poultry & Farmers Cooperative*, 11 Utah 2d 353, 359 P.2d 18 (1961) this court had occasion to consider the effectiveness of an instrument signed by Ray Tanner which purported to "release and discharge" the cooperative "from any and all debts, claims, demands and accountings of whatsoever name, nature and description," except sums payable under

2. We recognize that some promise are enforceable without consideration, i.e., those under seal in some states, and those giving rise to a "promissory estoppel." We have limited the discussion to consideration because no basis other than "sufficient consideration" was relied upon by the court in enforcing the release (R. 17-19). Although the question of estoppel was raised in the pre-trial order (R. 18), no evidence was introduced to support it.

some certificates of interest. The release was dated October 7, 1952, and recited that the payment represented the "balance owed to me under the marketing of my 1951 crop of turkeys." After signing the release plaintiff brought an action against the cooperative for balances owed for marketing his turkey crop between 1942 and 1951. The cooperative's defense that the claims had been released was upheld in a summary judgment but this court reversed on two grounds, one of them that there was no consideration for the release. The court said:

"* * * There was no consideration for the release of obligations arising out of transactions other than the marketing of the 1951 turkeys. For defendants did only what they were otherwise obligated to do. The release expressly recites that the payment was made as the balance owing for marketing the 1951 crop of turkeys. On the face of the instrument it expressly appears that the payment was made to liquidate that obligation, which defendants agreed was the balance owing thereunder. All of the other evidence tends to indicate that such was the fact and that the parties had agreed to the amount owing for the 1951 crop. All of the additional evidence * * * definitely tends to indicate that the amount paid was the exact amount which defendant's books showed that it owed plaintiff for the 1951 crop, and that plaintiff agreed to this figure after defendants had produced all their books and plaintiff's employees had twice audited such books. *The payment being for the exact amount which the parties had agreed was owing to plaintiff from the marketing of his*

1951 turkeys, there was no consideration given for the release of any other liability which defendants owed to plaintiff.” [Emphasis added.]

The present case cannot be distinguished. The amount paid by Roberts Investments was the exact amount the parties had agreed was owing to appellant for concrete sold to Roberts Investments on its own account.

In *Brimwood Homes, Inc. v. Knudsen Builders Supply Co.*, 14 Utah 2d 419, 385 P.2d 982 (1963), a savings and loan company had made a payment and obtained a release from a materialman. In an action to foreclose a mechanic’s lien the claimant contended that it was the intention of the parties to release lien rights only as to amounts set forth in the authorization, and that there was no consideration to support the promise to release any other lien rights that might be acquired thereafter. This court upheld the contention, saying:

“* * * It must be noted that the defendant, in receiving the payments from Prudential, was being paid no more than what it was legally entitled to at the time. Thus, a promise by the defendant to waive rights to future liens for other debts would be without consideration.”

A recent case applying the rule to a claim arising under 14-2-1 Utah Code Annotated 1953 (the private bonding statute) is *Pierce v. Pepper*, 17 Utah 2d 123, 405 P. 2d 435 (1965). There the plaintiffs, employees of a contractor, had been paid with worthless checks.

Subsequently they went to the defendant builder who paid them for part of their work on condition that they sign releases and lien waivers for everything. Respecting the transaction this court said:

“Having violated [the bonding statute], under the facts of this case, there was no consideration for the waivers, and the failure to require the contractor to file a bond to protect these workers under the plain wording of the statute, cannot ameliorate the obligation of the builder from its terms, by any no consideration David Harum negotiation with the workers.”

The above cases decided by this court are in accord with Restatement of Contracts, §76:

“Any consideration that is not a promise is sufficient to satisfy the requirement of §19(c)³, except the following:

“(a) An act of forbearance required by a legal duty that is neither doubtful nor the subject of honest and reasonable dispute if the duty is owed either to the promisor or the public, or, if imposed by the law of torts or crimes, is owed to any person; * * *

Illustration No. 5 following the quoted rule, could have been adopted from the facts in our case:

“A owes B a liquidated and undisputed debt of \$100. B has another claim against A, the existence or amount of which is honestly and reasonably disputed by A. A pays B \$100 in

³ Section 19(c) provides that a “sufficient consideration” is one of the requirements of law for the formation of an informal contract.

return for B's agreement to accept the payment in full satisfaction of both claims. There is not sufficient consideration for B's agreement, since A has paid only what he was under a duty to pay."

The rule is similarly stated in 76 C.J.S., Release, §14:

"A release of a legal obligation for which the consideration is the performance by the releasee of some undisputed legal duty owing by him to the releasor or to a third person is invalid for want of consideration. * * * So the full payment of an admitted debt or the full performance of one obligation is not consideration of a release of a second debt or obligation."

Accord: 45 Am. Jur., Release, §13.

The rules as set out above are supported by an annotation, "Payment of undisputed amount or liability as consideration for discharge of disputed amount or liability," 112 A.L.R. 1219, 1224, wherein it is pointed out that there is very little conflict of authority on the question of "whether payment of an undisputed claim is a consideration for the discharge of another distinct and independent disputed claim."⁴ The general rule is that it is not.

The facts in the present case are not novel, and there is no apparent reason why the rule of law should

4. The annotator points out that there is a conflict of authority on the question of whether payment of the conceded part of a single claim is sufficient consideration for release of the disputed balance. That situation is not involved here.

not be applied. The payment made by Roberts was for concrete it purchased from appellant after taking over the contract work. The payment could not be consideration for release of claims founded upon independent transactions between appellant and American Construction Company, which arose by virtue of the lien law (Title 38, Chapter 2, Utah Code Annotated 1953) and a statute requiring owners to obtain performance and payment bonds when undertaking substantial improvements on their property (Title 14, Chapter 2, Utah Code Annotated 1953).

[It should be noted, also, that this was not a case in which a debt was paid before it was due, or where a debtor agreed to forego bankruptcy in exchange for a release. The evidence is that Frank W. Roberts refused to pay the amount admittedly due unless appellant's office manager signed the release. There was no bargaining about due date or early payments. To constitute consideration, an act or forbearance must be "bargained for and given in exchange for the promise." Restatement of Contracts, §75.]

II

THE COURT ERRONEOUSLY CONSTRUED THE RECEIPT AS A RELEASE OF ROBERTS INVESTMENTS FROM LIABILITY.

The receipt signed by appellant's office manager, reprinted herein at pages 5 and 6, should not have been

construed as operating in favor of Roberts with respect to the American Construction Company debt. It purports to be an agreement with Valley State Bank, not with Roberts; and virtually all of the language is aimed at protecting Valley State Bank, the construction mortgagee.

If the release is determined to be ambiguous, appellant's position is aided by conversations that took place when the receipt was given. At no time during these conversations was it contended by Frank W. Roberts that the receipt was to protect him and his partner with respect to the American Construction Company debt. His attitude was that the claim was not his concern. He said the account was none of his business, he didn't intend to pay it, and appellant would have to work it out with American Construction. Not once did he say that he intended the receipt to operate as a release of the American Construction Company debt. He must have believed that the partnership was not liable for the American Construction Company debt—and that a release of it was not necessary. Otherwise, his conduct would amount to intentional deception.

The receipt having been prepared by Roberts, any ambiguity should be resolved against it. The use of the exact figure owed by Roberts Investments to appellant, \$7,505.64, would indicate that it was not intended to cover other independent claims. The language in the receipt is no broader than that considered by this court in *Tanner v. Utah Poultry & Farmers Cooperative*, 11

Utah 2d 353, 359 P.2d 18 (1961), discussed, supra., in connection with consideration. The second ground for reversal of the *Tanner* case was that the trial court had misconstrued the release and had applied it too broadly in light of the circumstances and recitals, respecting which this court said:

“The release recites that in consideration of the payment of \$9,350.00 from the cooperative ‘(being the balance owed to me under the marketing of my 1951 crop of turkeys) receipt of which is acknowledged, I do hereby release and discharge the said cooperative from any and all debts, * * *’ The release clearly states that the \$9,350.00 from the cooperative was the balance owing Tanner under the marketings of his 1951 crop of turkeys, payment of which he acknowledged. This would suggest that the release deals with obligations of the cooperative arising out of its marketing Tanner’s 1951 crop of turkeys. While the words dealing with the release do not confine it strictly to obligations arising out of the 1951 marketing when read in connection with the preceding part of the sentence, it clearly suggests that such was the intention of the parties. In view of this fact we conclude that the release was ambiguous on this question, and that the plaintiff was entitled to introduce evidence, which showed that it was the intention of the parties that the release was only of liability arising out of the 1951 marketing of turkeys.”

The evidence introduced in this case indicates that there was no bargaining between appellant and respondent respecting the application of the release to the indebtedness arising out of the American Construc-

tion Company purchases. Frank W. Roberts simply denied that Roberts Investment had anything to do with that obligation. There was no suggestion that Gibbons and Reed should release the obligation in exchange for the payment due, but only that it should sign the receipt. In light of the fact that the language of the receipt is directly primarily toward protection of Valley State Bank, and the promises in it appear to run to Valley State Bank, the court erred in construing the instrument as a release of appellant's separate claim against Roberts.

III

APPELLANT IS ENTITLED TO A JUDGMENT IN THE AMOUNT OF ITS CLAIM, INTEREST, AND ATTORNEY'S FEES.

In this brief, Point III is a consolidation of Points IV and V of the statement of points filed with the designation of record on appeal. It is based upon the ground that appellant is entitled to judgment under both the lien law and the private bonding statute.

Pursuant to the parties' stipulation, a deposit in court will be applied to any judgment recovered by appellant under either statute. It makes no difference therefore, whether appellant's recovery is based upon the lien law or the bonding statute, unless it is decided that attorney's fees are not allowable in an action based upon failure to obtain a bond.

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