1969

Roberts Investment Company, a Utah Corporation
v. Gibbons and Reed Concrete Products Company,
a Corporation and Gibb0Ns and Reed Concrete
Products Company, a Corporation v. Frank W.
Roberts and W. Calvin Roberts dba Roberts
Investment C0Mpany, et al. : Respondent's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF CASE

The Respondent agrees with the Appellant's description of the nature of the case.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The trial court, after a trial without a jury, dismissed the claims of all parties.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Respondents basically agree with the statement of facts set forth in Appellant's brief. Respondents, however, disagree with the statement set forth in Appellant's brief to the effect that the lien release was primarily aimed at the Valley State Bank as the lien release explicitly and clearly set forth that payment was received from Roberts Investment and further that Roberts Investment as the Owner was released from any and all claims for any materials delivered.

ARGUMENT I

**THE RELEASE SIGNED BY APPELLANTS
WAS A VALID RELEASE OF ALL CLAIMS
AGAINST ROBERTS INVESTMENT.**

The trial court clearly found that the release signed by the Appellant, Gibbons and Reed was a valid release of all claims which Gibbons and Reed had against Roberts Investment Company. The Appellant places all reliance on a question of consideration, in an effort to overturn the ruling of the trial court, alleging that the release signed was without consideration and, therefore, did not release Roberts Investment as to the claim which had arisen by the delivery of materials from the Appellant to American Construction Company for use on the building owned by Roberts. In support of this contention, Appellant's cite **Tanner vs. Utah Poultry and Farmers Cooperative**, 11 Utah 2d 353, 359 P 2d 18, alleg-

ing that that case and the one presently before the court are the same and cannot be distinguished. However, the Tanner case involved several claims all of which were not discussed by the parties and the release signed stated that the release only went to the 1951 crop of turkeys. The Plaintiff's in that case alleged fraud, misrepresentation on several counts. The release was dated October 7, 1952. But the misrepresentations were not discovered until May of 1957 and so there could be no bargain, understanding nor consideration for the release signed by Plaintiff's.

In the question now before the Court, Roberts Investment through one of the partners, Frank Roberts obtained a release of all claims from Appellant only after both of the claims were discussed with Mr. Roberts, and two of the officers of Gibbons and Reed. Mr. Roberts presented the release to Gibbons and Reed and stated that he did not owe the account of American Construction Company, that he was not going to pay the same and that if Gibbons and Reed desired him to pay the debt now they would have to sign a release clearly relieving him of all obligations of any nature whatsoever. Mr. Bradley of Gibbons and Reed read the release after this discussion and told Mr. Roberts to take the release and the check to Mr. Jan Zwets.

Mr. Roberts took the release to Mr. Zwets who again read the release and discussed both accounts with Mr. Roberts and after the discussion took the release and stamped thereon the notation, "for

materials delivered to date 8/20/64", then he affixed the name of Gibbons and Reed Concrete Products Company, signed the receipt, "Jan Zwets, Office Manager" and added, "this payment covers concrete material". He then accepted Mr. Roberts' check and returned to him the release which Mr. Roberts testified was to be given to Valley State Bank to induce Valley State Bank to pay over monies to Roberts Investment.

It is clear from the foregoing facts that there was no fraud, no misunderstanding, and that Gibbons and Reed desired to sign the release and receive the funds presented. This was clearly not the case in *Tanner vs. Utah Poultry*, and, in fact, the situation in the present case is very similar to that presented by this court in **Holbrook vs. Webster**, 7 Utah 2d 148, 320 P 2d 661. In that case, this court held that an unambiguous release of a materialman's lien which was supported by a valuable consideration was not subject to being varied by parol. In this case the court set forth its position as follows:

"The Receipt of Lien Release is supported by a valuable consideration, is unambiguous and is not subject to being varied by parol. There is no contention that the Lien Release and Waiver was procured by fraud or misrepresentation.

Lyle D. Webster filed his affidavit wherein he stated that he signed the Receipt of Lien Release set out herein. He further declared that said Release was "only intended to release the property as the receipted amount is concerned only," and that he did not intend to release any of the remaining balance by reason of the receipt.

We are of the opinion that no genuine issue of fact is presented by the Lien Release. The only issue is one of law. It does not lie in the mouth of Appellant to say that he was mistaken in the legal effect of the Release or that he did not intend that it should be given the only legal effect of which it is susceptible.

Even if the notice of Lien was filed within the time required, the Release of any Lien or right to Lien that Appellant had or might thereafter acquire was effective for the purpose of releasing such lien.

The cases have held that the consideration need only be something of value and the courts will generally, in absense of fraud, coercion and undue influence, and if the parties are competent, not avoid the release on the ground of inadequacy of the consideration for the release. See 76 C.J.S., Release, 19. The value in the case before the Court to the Appellant was in obtaining the money **now** as opposed to later. And as a further strength to this position the Appellant knew that the release was to be given to Valley State Bank as set forth in the terms of the release itself and such testimony was adduced at the trial by Mr. Roberts. (R 54) The trial court found that there was consideration although it did not set forth in detail what this was.

At this point, it should be noted that Gibbons and Reed knew the content of the release which said in unequivocal terms that they were releasing any claims that they had against Roberts Investment and both Mr. Zwets and Mr. Bradley testified that they had read the receipt before it was signed. Mr.

Bradley stating that he authorized Mr. Jan Zwets to sign it. Mr. Bradley further testified that he read the receipt carefully and that there were objectionable words in it but that he did not change any of the words as he felt that they were protecting themselves by dating it up to that time. (R 34-36). Mr. Zwets testified that he read the receipt before he signed it, and when asked if he read that it was release for all goods and materials he answered, "I acted in good faith on this", and then testified he signed the same. The good faith of the Appellant was shown by its immediate filing of a lien after signing the lien release which was clear and unequivocal on its face. Mr. Zwets testified that he was only releasing the Roberts debt, but the trial court must have disbelieved this contention and this court has held that if there is doubt about the correlation of Answers to Interrogatories or testimony it should be interpreted to harmonize with the trial court. **Pace vs. Parrish**, 122 Utah 141.

It is further noted here that there is an analogous position found in some cases which state that where a debt or demand is a fixed and certain amount but where it is uncertain or a matter of dispute which of two persons is liable to pay it, and both deny liability, there is such a controversy as to bring the case within the class of claims which may be satisfied by the payment and acceptance of a less amount than is claimed, and a partial payment by one of such parties may effect a valid accord and satisfaction. 1 C.J.S. Accord and Satisfaction 32 (4). Roberts Investment denied any liability of the debt

owed by American Construction and though this involved two separate accounts it involved the liability of two parties. Gibbons and Reed knew of their denial, understood the dispute fully, took the money offered in good faith and immediately filed a lien. Certainly the principal of accord and satisfaction and release should be brought to bear in this fact situation, and certainly the trial court so found.

Appellant further cites **Brimwood Homes, Inc. vs Knudsen's Builders Supply Company**, 14 Utah 2d 419, wherein a lien waiver was signed and the majority of the court held that the lien waivers did not release the Defendants rights to future liens for other debts, as this would be without consideration. The Knudsen case is certainly not in point in the present situation as, in that case, at no time during the execution of the waivers did either party know how much material had been delivered nor which lots were involved and there was a very definite question as to which property was being released by the waiver signed and, therefore, certainly a question could be raised to show that the waiver was not binding. The Respondent respectfully refers the court to the dissenting opinion of Justice Henroid.

The invalidating of a lien release by self-serving claims of no consideration can open a flood of law suits and seriously bring into question the ability to pass title to any property on which work has been performed, and lien releases have been received, as the lien releases may be attacked at any time by parol evidence. It is the avoidance of this prob-

lem that has caused some courts to hold that the general rule set forth in the Appellant's brief should be overturned and that even a technical legal consideration could be found to support it. See 112 A.L.R. 1221.

The Appellant received consideration of having cash now, though less in the amount than thought due by him, as a real benefit in view of the fact that he might be put to extra cost, delay or litigation. The trial court held that there was sufficient consideration and that the lien release was valid and worked to relieve Roberts Investment of any and all claim against it by the Appellant and was only given after discussion and understanding by both parties.

ARGUMENT II

THE COURT CORRECTLY CONSTRUED THE RECEIPT AS A RELEASE OF ROBERTS INVESTMENT FROM LIABILITY.

The receipt signed by Appellants Office Manager was correctly construed as operating in favor of Roberts with respect to the American Construction Company debt. Although the receipt runs partially to Valley State Bank, the clear meaning of the receipt, with reference to Roberts, is set forth as follows:

"and further, and disputes over amounts due and/or material delivered heretofore between claimant and owner are waived and settled and the undersigned releases the owners from all and any claims the undersigned may have against owner or material delivered or labor performed.

The release is unambiguous as seen in the language quoted. All of the testimony relating to the receipt indicates that Appellants Office Manager and General Manager read and understood the language and even questioned the same before signing it. Mr. Frank Roberts at all times stated that he would not pay American Construction debt and that in order to obtain the monies proffered, the release would have to be signed. With this stipulation and understanding, it was signed.

The receipt was not misconstrued by the court as Appellant alleges. The receipt, as are most lien releases, ran to the owner and Valley State Bank and all of the bargaining as well as discussions were had with the owner. Gibbons and Reed apparently felt that they could sign the lien release, get their money, and then immediately file a lien and cloud the title of owner's property. Although the amount quoted as the consideration was the exact amount of Roberts account there was no distinction, added to the receipt by Gibbons and Reed to the effect that this would act as a release for the claim against Roberts only and not against the claim had against American Construction Company.

The Appellant again cites **Tanner vs. Utah Poultry and Farmers Cooperative**, 11 Utah 2d 353, 359 P 2d 18 (1961) as authority for alleging that the receipt prepared by Roberts was ambiguous. However, it should be noted that that case specifically said in one portion of the release that it was to clear all of the obligation owed under the marketing of

the 1951 crop of turkeys, and then went on to say that it was a release against any and all obligations arising between the Plaintiff and Defendant. This type of misunderstanding is not found in the receipt signed in this case and further weight is given to this portion in view of the fact that Appellants Office Manager affixed the pertinent date to the release himself and further added that the release was for concrete delivered.

Appellant alleges that there was no suggestion that Gibbons and Reed should release the obligation for the payment due but only that it should sign the release. The record indicates that there was discussion of both accounts prior to the signing of the release and the Office Manager and General Manager both admitted that they read the release before signing it. There can be no question that they understood the clear meaning of the receipt itself, to say otherwise would be adding to the evidence the unexpressed intent of these individuals. The court again is referred to **Holbrook vs. Webster's Inc.**, 7 Utah 148, wherein the court stated:

"It does not lie in the mouth of Appellant to say that he was mistaken in the legal effect of the release or that he did not intend that it should be given the only legal effect of which it is susceptible."

Clearly this same language applies in this case.

It is difficult to understand the position of the Appellant claiming that the language of the receipt is directed primarily toward protection of Valley

State Bank when, in fact, the receipt clearly states that it protects Valley State Bank and goes even further and releases and satisfies any claim as against the owner and the court certainly did not err in so holding.

ARGUMENT III

APPELLANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO A JUDGMENT IN THE AMOUNT OF ITS CLAIM, INTEREST AND ATTORNEY FEES AS THE COURT FOUND THAT THE AMENDED LIEN WAS IMPROPER AND THE RECEIPT WAS EFFECTIVE AS A RELEASE OF LIABILITY.

Appellants contention that it is entitled to Judgment under 14-2-2 Utah Code Annotated 1953, is erroneous. The court clearly held that the receipt was effective as a release of that or any liability arising out of the transaction now before the court.

The language of 14-2-3 Utah Code Annotated 1953 contains the provision that in an action brought upon the bond provided for the Chapter, the successful party would be entitled to recover a reasonable attorney fee, but there is no provision that attorney fees should lie on an action for failure to obtain a bond and this statute should be strictly construed and no attorney fee should be allowed.

Appellants contention that it is entitled to attorney fees under 38-1-8 Utah Code Annotated 1953 is also erroneous in that the court ruled that the amended lien as filed was improper and being improper, of course, the Appellant cannot prevail

on a foreclosure proceedings nor claim that it's entitled to an attorneys fee.

The lien as originally filed, stated that the first material was furnished on May 7, 1964, this being the period that the first material was delivered directly to Roberts and it further failed to state that the material delivered was at the insistence and request of American Construction Company. It is interesting to note that the lien, as originally filed, covered only material delivered to Roberts and only during that period in which Roberts themselves were ordering the goods and materials. The lien did not cover any period involving American Construction Company. Yet, the Appellant would have us believe that the lien as originally filed was supposed to relate to the period for which they claimed that a lien release had not been given. But, in fact, it covered only that period which by their own statement had been released. Six months later they amended their lien in an effort to correct this gross error. This error was material and certainly not readily explainable and the trial court found that it was clearly improper. The Appellant further contends that this would be an imperfection of the human machinery and that a recovery of a just debt should not be denied when nothing but fair dealing is apparent. It is apparent that there was no fair dealing on the part of Appellant in this matter and that they signed the release giving it to Roberts, knowing that it was to induce others to pay monies to Roberts and then immediately filing a lien on the same property.

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